Adaptogenic and Anabolic Botanicals to Promote Allostasis

Co-authored by Donald R. Yance Jr., RH (AHG), CN and Suzanne E. Sky, L.Ac., MTOM



Table of Contents

Part I: Context and Systems	
Restorative Herbal Medicine: Historical Context	
Ayurvedic and Chinese Restorative Medicine	3
Adaptogenic Botanicals and Allostasis	
Homeostasis, Allostasis, and Adaptation	
Selye's Biological Stress Response	
Allostasis	5
Metabolic Model of Homeostasis	7
Stress Response Systems	
Neuroendocrine Stress Response	
Metabolic Stress Response	8
Complex Adaptive Systems Theory	
Synergistic Adaptogenic Formulations	10
Part II: Adaptogenic Botanicals	10
Russian Research of Adaptogenic Botanicals	
Therapeutic Use of Adaptogenic Botanicals	11
Restore Allostasis; Modulate Neuroendocrine Response	
Adaptogenic Botanicals: Eleuthero, Panax Ginseng: Red, White, American Ginseng	
Rhodiola, Mushrooms: Reishi, Cordyceps; Ashwaganda, Schisandra Berry, Aralia	14-18
Part III: Anabolic Botanicals	
Historic Context of Anabolic Botanicals	
Therapeutic Use of Anabolic Agents/Activators	
Promote Anabolic Processes: Restore Metabolic Homeostasis	
Anabolic Botanicals: Pantocrine, Rhaponticum, Ajuga, Shilajit, Cissus, Epimedium	
Conclusion	
Author Bios	
References	23



Restorative Herbal Medicine: Historical Context

Humans have used plants for thousands of years as food, spice, and medicine to sustain life, restore health, and optimize longevity. Ancient medical traditions such as Chinese medicine and Ayurveda classify botanicals according to specific parameters. Their ancient practitioners studied, classified, and described in detail the specific properties of plants and their influence on human health. These herbs are still revered and utilized by today's herbalists in an unbroken chain of medical tradition. Modern scientists, exploring the realm of botanicals, are discovering the validity of their benefits.

Ayurvedic and Chinese Restorative Medicine

Chinese medicine and Ayurvedic herbalists identify a group of botanical medicines that possess unique and special attributes. These herbs are found to be restorative and even rejuvenative to the tissues, organs, and systems of the body. They are appropriate for long-term use with no toxicity. These elite herbs have been used for thousands of years to restore vitality and physiological function after illness. They are powerful herbs that are also valued to prevent illness, foster well-being, and promote longevity.

Ayurvedic medicine classifies these unique herbs as *Rasayana* – literally Path (*ayana*) of essence (*rasa*). These botanicals are known to enhance life and lengthen the lifespan. Modern research on Rasayana herbs finds they possess antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and adaptogenic qualities.¹

Specific herbs from several botanical classifications in Chinese medicine are noted for these attributes. Traditionally, Taoist monks utilized them to support their meditative practices, maintain optimal health, and promote longevity. Chinese practitioners esteemed them as potent restoratives.

These botanical medicines are ideally utilized in the context of a healthy lifestyle, cultivation of mental/ emotional equanimity, and other health-promoting practices focused on harmony of body, mind, and spirit. These special herbs are revered today for their ability to strengthen immunity and resistance to disease, and to support physical strength, endurance, and resilience. They enhance mental clarity, promote equanimity, and facilitate a calm spirit.

Adaptogenic Botanicals and Allostasis

In the 1950s, Russian scientists studied some of these elite herbs and termed them *adaptogenic* because of their ability to enhance adaptive capacity. All living organisms constantly respond and adapt to ongoing stimuli from our ever-changing environment. Botanical adaptogens support the human organism's ability to respond appropriately in order to maintain *allostasis* – the ability of the system to constantly change, adapt, and support homeostasis.

Modern-day Russian and Western research regarding the ongoing relationship between health and our ability to adapt to change has developed over the last century-and-a-half. It has grown from conceptualization of basic principles such as homeostasis and adaptation to a more advanced understanding of the complexity of the vast interrelationships and dynamic processes that maintain our health and well-being. Within this context, botanical adaptogens are known to primarily modulate the neuroendocrine system, which orchestrates the adaptive response.



This paper explores the development of some of the primary theories that contribute to our understanding of processes of health and disease. Key concepts are presented in relation to the therapeutic use of adaptogenic botanicals. These unique herbs offer a powerful means to restore health, maintain health, and enhance well-being. Well-being refers to the quality of our life and to our ability to engage fully with all facets of our being so that we can enjoy harmonious relationships with our family, our work, and within our community.

Homeostatis, Allostasis, and Adaptation

In the development of Western medicine, Claude Bernard was perhaps the first to introduce the concept that our internal balance is the main factor determining our health and resistance to disease. This was considered quite heretical during his time when germs were considered the primary causative factor of disease. Bernard, a French physiologist (1813 - 1878) introduced the concept of the *milieu interieur*, the body's internal environment. He described the body's ongoing process of self-regulation to preserve health and referred to this process as *dynamic equilibrium*.

In the 1920s, Harvard physiologist Walter B. Cannon (1871 – 1945) called this bodily process of dynamic equilibrium *homeostasis*. Homeostasis refers to the ongoing bodily processes that constantly adjust to internal and external factors (temperature, food, and so forth), allowing us to function consistently. Canon also studied emotional disturbances and their influence on physiological and adrenal function.

While traditional healing systems such as Chinese medicine have recognized the impact of stress and negative emotions on physiology for thousands of years, this was the start of such research in the West. Canon was the first to use the word stress in relationship to the human experience. Prior to that it was used in the context of engineering forces. Canon described stress as a force that disturbs homeostasis.^{2,3}

Selye's Biological Stress Response

Hans Selye (1907 – 1982) developed a more advanced model of stress and its influence on health and the development of disease. Selye, an endocrinologist, was known as the "Einstein of medical research". His research describes a progression of physiological responses to stress. He recognized that a stressor triggering the stress response could be physical, chemical, emotional, or psychological. He found that stress can weaken the interior environment and that the response to stress is unique to each person. An individual's inherent strengths and weaknesses determines their ability to adapt and how stress will influence their health. Selye developed the general adaptation syndrome model, which he later renamed the biologic stress response. It outlines the general response of the organism to stress. His 1936 article *Stress-Induced Illness* defined stress as "the nonspecific response of the body to any demand".^{4,5}

Selye's Biological Stress Response Stages^{5,6}

Stage 1: Alarm Reaction

The neuroendocrine response to stress is protective and designed to be short-lived. The release of hormones, especially adrenaline and cortisol, promote a cascade of metabolic responses. The sympathetic nervous system is activated and tissue catabolism increases as the system prepares for action.

Stage 2: Resistance

The HPA (hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal) axis is activated in this phase. The system adapts, stress is



resolved, and homeostasis is regained. This adaptation may be beneficial or detrimental to the organism. Ideally, adaptation is beneficial, as the body develops resistance to the stressor and improves its adaptive capacity and health.

Stage 3: Exhaustion

With continuing stress and/or poor adaptation, the organism experiences disruption in normal function and homeostasis. Prolonged circulation of stress hormones such as cortisol and adrenaline causes tissue damage. A combination of factors contributes to eventual exhaustion, hormonal depletion, dysregulation of systems, and the development of illness.

In the initial phases, Selye notes three major tissue changes: thymus atrophy, lymph atrophy, and erosion of the stomach lining. During the normalizing resistance phase, these changes usually resolve. If stress is unresolved, these tissue changes reoccur and worsen during the exhaustion phase. This suggested to Selye that the adaptability of living organisms is finite. He attributes the limits of adaptability – what he called *adaptation energy* – primarily to genetics.

Allostasis

The most basic assessment of good health includes well-being and vitality. These qualities influence our resilience – the ability to adapt to the constant changes and challenges of life. Stress is a natural part of life as we constantly interact with our environment, with others, and within ourselves. Our individual response to stress either helps us adapt or becomes a contributing factor to maladaptation.

Cannon described homeostasis as a coordinated ongoing process that maintains a steady state in the body. This includes processes such as pH regulation, oxygen levels, and body temperature.⁷ The concepts of *allostasis* and *allostatic load* offer a fuller perspective. Bruce S. McEwen, an endocrinologist, describes allostasis as the mechanism through which the body maintains homeostasis. The concept of allostasis, first introduced by Peter Sterling and Joseph Eyer, refers to ongoing processes that maintain stability

Measures of Allostatic Load

- Systolic and diastolic blood pressure
- Indices of cardiovascular activity
- Waist-hip ratio
- An index of more chronic levels of metabolism and adipose tissue deposition, thought to be influenced by increased glucocorticoid activity
- Serum HDL and total cholesterol
- Related to the development of atherosclerosis increased risks being seen with higher levels in the case of total cholesterol and lower levels in the case of HDL
- Blood plasma levels of glycosylated hemoglobin
- An integrated measure of glucose metabolism over several days time.
- Serum dihydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S)
- A functional HPA axis and antagonist
- Over-night urinary cortisol excretion
- An integrated measure of 12-hr HPA axis activity
- Overnight urinary noradrenalin and adrenalin excretion
- Integrated indices of 12-hr sympathetic nervous systems activity



See reference #21.



See reference #21.

(homeostasis) through change. This includes normal life changes (seasons, pregnancy, etc.) and unexpected events that disrupt normal functions.⁷⁻⁹

The nervous, endocrine, and immune systems mediate allostatic processes in a complex, integrated manner. While stress contributes to allostatic load, chronic stress leads to the more severe stage of *allostatic overload* with multiple disruptions throughout all systems of the body.

Chronic stress contributes to structural and functional changes in the brain, particularly in the prefrontal cortex, the amygdala, and the hippocampus.⁸ These changes include loss of dendrite growth, shortening of dendrites, remodeling of the hippocampus, and reduced hippocampal volume. Behavioral changes include heightened fear response, increased anxiety, memory loss, and cognitive decline. Disruption of normal cortisol fluctuations influence Circadian rhythms of sleep and waking.⁸⁻¹¹

Prolonged stress has multiple effects on the brain due to its inherent plasticity. In particular, trauma and prolonged stress during preconception through the developmental stages of early childhood is found to adversely affect the brain. This creates a predisposition to the stress response throughout life and to pathologies later in life. These changes can be ameliorated and to some extent reversed.^{7,8:11-13}

Inflammatory and oxidative processes increase with long-term stress. This adversely effects cellular systems and accelerates cellular aging. Cellular systems affected include cell signaling, mitochondrial function, biological oscillations, and many others. These factors along with metabolic imbalance can contribute to the erosion of telomeres, which are associated with longevity.⁸

At its foundation, the allostatic model represents the balance between metabolic energy and the constant, ever-changing demands of life. In conditions of prolonged stress, whether real or perceived, the physiology remains on constant alert due to overactivity of its arousal systems. This leads to depletion of vital energy reserves, fatigue, and a host of other issues. Since the physiology is not able to maintain stability, systems become increasingly dysfunctional, and the person becomes prone to serious pathophysiology.



Metabolic Model of Homeostasis

One definition of health is as an ongoing process of adaptability, flexibility, and robustness.¹⁴ In the context of nutrition and metabolism, *Phenotypic flexibility* is an allostatic process that describes the organisms metabolic capacity to respond to the continually changing environment.^{15,16}

Phenotypic flexibility, unique in each individual, is an indicator of health status. Flexibility progresses to inflexibility with the onset and progression of disease.¹⁶ The degree or amplitude of the stress response, the adaptive capacity of the person, and the effectiveness and the duration of the response are determining factors that define the phenotypic flexibility of the individual.¹⁶ This involves cellular processes of energy production (ATP production and synthesis), DNA repair, cellular response to oxidative stress, inflammatory processes, and other factors.¹⁶ Researchers are currently exploring which markers might be helpful to determine health status, rather than disease status, in individuals.^{14,17}



Physiological processes involved in phenotypic flexibility. Thirty-five different physiological processes that may be influenced by food and nutrition have been defined. The optimal nutritional stress challenge should trigger all these physiological processes, so that it allows the broad quantification of nutritional health effects.

See reference #14.

Nutrition influences phenotypic flexibility and scientists are particularly fascinated with the role of micronutrients as cofactors in metabolic homeostasis. Micronutrients such as flavonoids act as enzymes, enhance hormonal function, and exert antioxidant and anti-inflammatory influence.¹⁵ The field of nutrigenomics studies how food and plant constituents affect gene expression and how gene expression influences the absorption, metabolism, elimination, and other processing of a nutrient.¹⁸ These studies enhance our understanding of how botanicals interact with and modulate multiple functions, processes, and systems in the human body.



Stress Response Systems

Our body is a system of well-orchestrated networks that continuously interact, communicate, and respond simultaneously. Three key systems that engage in the stress response are the metabolic system, neuroendocrine system, and immune system. This response is a complex process of primary and secondary reactions and feedback mechanisms that work to maintain allostasis. These systems are engaged therapeutically to facilitate healing from illness, support health, and enhance longevity.^{15,16,19} Here, our primary concern is the neuroendocrine and metabolic systems.



Neuroendocrine Stress Response

The brain is the central modulator and primary

controller of allostasis.^{8,9,13} Core brain centers mediate physiological and behavioral responses to real or perceived stress. These include the hippocampus, amygdala, prefrontal cortex, hypothalamus, and anterior lobe of the pituitary gland.^{8-10,13,20-23}

The amygdala, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex work together as a stress response network. The amygdala activates the locus coeruleus, which processes anxiety and increases alert attention. It also activates the SNS (sympathetic nervous system) fight-or-flight response. The amygdala triggers nerve responses in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (HPVN) which, in turn, activates the pituitary gland and HPA axis.^{9,22,24-26}

Stressor-specific response systems of the brain determine which circuits are activated, level of response, and duration of response.²⁴ Stimulation of the stress response can be anticipatory or reactive. The elicited response occurs at multiple levels in a complex, non-linear, integrated manner to maintain on ongoing mediation and modulation of homeostasis and allostasis.²⁷

The production and relay of neurotransmitters and hormones are in a continual state of flux, working together to support allostasis.¹⁹ Their integrated function, referred to as the neuroendocrine system, impacts health, aging, and disease. At the core of the neuroendocrine system is the HPA (hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal) axis, which modulates multiple processes.⁸

Primary mediators of the HPA axis stress response are the glucocorticoids (GCs) and the catecholamines. Both the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex are rich in glucocorticoid receptors. GCs promote release of fuel for energy needed during fight-or-flight and help restore homeostasis during recovery. Their release is mediated by the HPA axis via the HPVN.^{20,28} Prolonged glucocorticoid secretion exerts a long-term catabolic influence and contributes to metabolic, affective, and psychological disease.^{8,13,22,27,29,30}

Metabolic Stress Response

Metabolic homeostasis is another parameter of allostasis. Metabolism is an ongoing, dynamic, biochemical



process at the cellular level that sustains life through continual transformation of nutrients and molecular compounds. Metabolic balance influences endocrine function, immunity, cell proliferation, cellular communication, bioenergetics, mood, and behavior.³¹⁻³³

This refers to the balance of catabolic (breaking down) and anabolic (building up) activity. The balance between energy input and energy expenditure is the basis for the concepts of allostasis and allostatic overload. While both processes occur continuously, anabolic processes are favored during times of rest, healing, pregnancy, lactation, and growth. Anabolic metabolism influences immune response, protein synthesis, cellular repair, cell function, and bioenergetics.

Glucocorticoids:

- induce glycogenolysis in the liver
- suppress innate immunity in immune organs
- inhibits bone & muscle growth
- potentiate SNS-mediated vasoconstriction
- invoke proteolysis and lipolysis
- suppress reproductive function via the HP-gonadal axis
- induce behavioral depression

See reference #27.

The natural aging process is associated with reduced anabolic activity and increased catabolic activity. Recovery and healing takes

longer and metabolism often slows. This is exacerbated by multiple factors that can contribute to chronic illness, degenerative disease, and metabolic disease.

Allostatic overload causes accelerated catabolism and depletion of internal energy. Decreased muscle mass, lowered immune response, compromised resistance to disease, and hormonal imbalance are indicators of increased catabolic activity. Muscle wasting can become problematic in the elderly or in those with degenerative disease when it progresses to sarcopenia or cachexia.

Considering four stages of metabolic stress in disease, as described below, offers a complementary model to that of Selye's or McEwen's with emphasis on the interaction between metabolic and neuroendocrine systems.³¹

Metabolic Stages of Illness and Recovery³¹

Metabolic Stage 1

During the adaptive response, catabolic processes increase as glucose, fatty acids, and amino acids are broken down from liver and muscle stores to provide fuel for action. Insulin resistance develops to support the increased need for glucose and fatty acids. Increased oxidation of carbohydrates and increased energy output contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction. Over time, this leads to inefficient substrate cycling and loss of lean body mass. This is partially attributed to a decrease in the anabolic hormones IGF-1 (insulin-like growth factor) and testosterone.

Metabolic Stage 2

Without resolution, the allostatic load and inflammatory processes increase. Neuroendocrine changes contribute to organ dysfunction, increased catabolic process, insulin resistance, and hormonal changes. This stage represents a progression from an adaptive to a maladaptive response.



Metabolic Stage 3

The third stage reflects progression to an illness that is critical, degenerative, prolonged, and likely has a poor prognosis.

Metabolic Stage 4

This model features a recovery stage. Here, the body returns to anabolic balance and inflammatory pathways are downregulated. Appropriate therapy focuses on building lean muscle mass utilizing dietary nutrition and anabolic agents. The selection of botanicals that promote dynamic, anabolic processes during this stage is essential.

Complex Adaptive Systems Theories

The concept of health also includes resiliency, adaptability, and dynamism.^{14,34} Our ability to adapt and evolve with our constantly changing environment is a dynamic process.³⁷ *Complex adaptive systems theory* describes living organisms, including plants and humans, as complex systems that are self-organizing and dynamic.³⁴ This perspective further recognizes humans and all life forms as dynamic, living systems that constantly adapt in relationship and co-evolve with all other living systems on and including the planet itself. Modern scientists refer to this as an ongoing, interactive *Complex Adaptive System*.^{15,16,34,35}.

The recognition of this process inherent in living systems is currently evolving in the worldwide scientific community. The interdisciplinary approach is known by many names including *Complex Systems Theory* or *Complex Adaptive Systems Theory*. Complex adaptive systems theory recognizes that there is an ongoing dynamic interplay between physiology, environment, cognition, emotion, cultural, and other factors that influence our health. This understanding represents an interdisciplinary, multiple systems approach to understanding the complex, interactive dynamics of allostasis.^{15,16,34-37}

Synergistic Adaptogenic Formulations

Chinese and Ayurvedic traditional medical systems are fundamentally based on the concepts being explored today in complex adaptive systems theories. Therefore, they most commonly utilize complex formulas with many herbs combined together for optimal results. These formulas are carefully designed to facilitate and engage a multi-systems response to promote healing. This concept of using multiple herbs and natural compounds to form a synergistic formula underpins the philosophy of herbal medicine, which seeks to address the root cause of conditions and offer restorative modalities.

The *terroir* of the herb, its energetic influence, and biochemical actions interact in a beneficial manner with the dynamic, complex, human system to evoke a healing response. Epigenetic assays show that the gene expression profile of a whole traditional formula is unique and different than the effects from the individual herbs.^{38,39} In original Russian studies, a balanced adaptogenic formula given to Olympic athletes and cosmonauts was found to have an enhanced effect when compared to any adaptogenic herb administered singly.^{38,39}



PART II: Adaptogenic Botanicals

Russian Research of Adaptogenic Botanicals

Humans and plants have coevolved over millennia and modern researchers are rediscovering how plants powerfully interact in a multi-faceted manner with human physiology to restore and enhance healthy function from the cellular level to more complex systems and tissues.

In the 1950s, Russians began studying the elite herbs used as restorative and rejuvenative tonics in Asian and Russian traditional medicine systems. They were interested in enhancing the performance of Russian Olympic athletes, cosmonauts, and military without the adverse side-effects of steroids.

Eleuthero (*Eleutherocuccus senticosus*) is perhaps the most widely-researched adaptogen. The unique qualities of this herb led Russian scientist Dr. Nikolai Lazarev (1870 - 1942) to coin the term *adaptogen* in the late 1940s. Later, Israel I. Brekhman, MD (1921 - 1994) intensively studied Eleuthero and used its remarkable properties to define the characteristics of adaptogenic herbs. The simplest definition of an adaptogen is *any agent that increases nonspecific resistance of an organism to stress and other environmental influences*. The traditional definition of an adaptogenic herb, as set by Dr. Brekhman includes four parameters:^{40,41}

- 1. It elicits a nonspecific (general) response in the host.
- 2. It increases resistance to multiple stressors, including physical, chemical, or biological.
- 3. It normalizes and stabilizes function.
- 4. It causes no harm or adverse effects.

The primary herbs identified as being adaptogenic in these original Russian studies included Eleuthero, Shisandra, Panax Ginseng, Rhodiola, and Ashwaganda.

Therapeutic Use of Adaptogenic Botanicals

Restore Allostasis; Modulate Neuroendocrine Response

Adaptogenic botanicals are nonspecific in action without being stimulating. By definition, adaptogens exert a modulatory influence. Because they normalize hypo- or hyper- conditions, they are of primary importance in calming the stress response and restoring function. Adaptogenic botanicals are known to modulate cellular function, cell-signaling, neuroendocrine function, metabolic homeostasis, and immune response. These powerful herbs are foundational in any health program to help restore allostatic processes including the normal biological complexity found in healthy systems.

They are restorative in nature, with nourishing properties. These botanicals support an efficient adaptive response and optimize the body's natural resilience. Adaptogens help normalize the entire system and enhance recovery time from stress. They help revitalize exhausted organ and energy systems.

Adaptogenic Botanicals:

- nonspecific action
- normalize hypo- and hyperconditions
- support physiological adaptation
- facilitate allostasis
- Enhance the body's normal processes
- nourish vital life force
- no side-effects or toxicity
- modulate neuroendocrine function



Eleuthero Root (*Eleutherococcus senticosis*)

Eleuthero is considered the premier adaptogenic herb. Dr. Brekman used the notable properties of Eleuthero to create the defining characteristics of adaptogenic botanicals. It demonstrates a consistent ability to normalize function, increase biological resistance, and enhance natural energy systems.^{42,43} Eleuthero benefits the body's adapative capacity, increases biological resistance, and normalizes physiological responses. Eleuthero supports and optimizes endocrine and adrenal gland function during times of stress. It helps normalize blood glucose levels.^{44,45}



Eleuthero (Eleutherococcus senticosis)

Because of these actions, Eleuthero enhances athletic performance, improves recovery time from physical exertion, and supports healing from stress and illness.^{43;46-48} People in the Siberian Taiga region traditionally used Eleuthero to increase performance, support resistance to infections, and improve quality of life.

Due to Brekhman's research, Eleuthero became popular in Russia in the late 1950s. For several decades it was included in herbal regimens to enhance performance and recovery time in Russian athletes. It is found highly effective to enhance physical energy, endurance, and mental acuity. Oxygen intake during exercise is improved, which allows for increased stamina and longer workouts with quicker recovery time, especially in performance athletes.^{43,49}

Because of its tonic actions, Eleuthero was first marketed as "Siberian Ginseng". While Eleuthero is a member of the *Araliaceae* family along with Panax Ginseng, the two are distant relatives. Eleuthero does not contain the ginsenosides for which true Ginseng is famous. Its primary active compounds are steroidal glycosides called *eleutherosides*. Other active constituents include triterpene saponins, phenolic compounds, and lignans. Eleuthero contains vitamin E, carotenoids, and a wide array of minerals.^{40,50}

Eleuthero demonstrates anabolic activity.^{42,49} It enhances protein synthesis in the pancreas, liver, and adrenal cortex.^{42,45} One of Eleuthero's bioactive compounds, Eleutheroside B, is the key compound that plays a significant role in its anti-stress and anabolic actions.^{42;50-52}

Eleuthero is noted for its ability to decrease adrenal hypertrophy, which often occurs in the context of a prolonged stress response.⁴⁰ Eleuthero helps prevent or alleviate the stress response by normalizing function. It helps delay the onset of adrenal exhaustion (the third phase of Hans Selye's General Adaptation Syndrome).⁵³

Eleuthero also helps combat the adverse effects of sleep-deprivation.^{54,55} It has profound anti-fatigue influence and a small study showed it to benefit those diagnosed with idiopathic chronic fatigue.⁴⁰

Panax Ginseng Root (Panax ginseng)

Panax Ginseng is a highly-revered herb used as food and medicine in Asia for over 4,000 years. The name *Panax* is derived from the Greek word *pan* (meaning all) and *-axos* (medicine or remedy) – reflecting Ginseng's use as a panacea. The Chinese name for Ginseng is *Ren Shen* or "human root", as the root sometimes grows in the shape of a person with a head and two legs. It is believed to embody a human's three essences (body, mind, and spirit) and to contain the essence of the earth. It



is revered for its ability to promote longevity through its nourishing qualities. Known to strengthen the body and restore vitality, Ginseng is used by Chinese practitioners to treat many types of illness to promote health.⁵⁶

Ginseng has been used for thousands of years to help resolve serious illness, combat fatigue, and promote longevity. It is a powerful botanical that enhances vital energy, benefits physical performance, and promotes stamina. Ginseng enhances recovery from exertion and muscle fatigue.⁵⁷⁻⁶⁰

Ginseng exerts a modulatory influence on the central nervous system. It facilitates the stress response, acts on the hypothalamus, and modulates the activity of the adrenal cortex. It helps normalize glucocorticoid levels and enhances recovery. Ginseng modulates healthy blood glucose levels.⁶¹⁻⁶⁴ It is found beneficial for neurasthenia and mild depression. Ginseng is reported to be neuroprotective, to benefit concentration, and to enhance cognitive ability.^{57-60;65}

Panax Ginseng is known for its high content of ginsenosides, which are triterponoid saponins. It is also high in polysaccharides, peptide glycans, and flavones.⁶⁶ Ginsenosides in Ginseng exert antioxidant activity and enhance the antioxidative defense system, including glutathione. Ginseng promotes the activity of the antioxidant enzymes GSH-Px (glutathione peroxidase) and SOD (superoxide dismutase).⁶⁷ It is found to decrease levels of proinflammatory cytokines. It modulates and enhances immune system response, NK (natural killer) cell activity, and interferon production.^{65,68,69}

Processed (Red) Ginseng has properties uniquely different than unprocessed (White) Ginseng although both are noted for their tonic, nourishing qualities. White Ginseng (Fresh, unprocessed) is more neutral in quality with a calming and quiescent influence.

Red Ginseng is prepared in a specific manner and steamed with herbs that cause it to become more heating in nature. This processing imparts Red Ginseng with the ability to restore dynamic vigor and vitality to the body. It can be too heating and stimulating for those with specific conditions, including high blood pressure. Red Ginseng is found to contain a higher ginsenoside content due to the conversion of naturally-occuring compounds to ginsenoisides during the steaming process.⁶⁶

American Ginseng Root (Panax quinquefolius)

American Ginseng is a Panax species native to eastern North America where it grows as an understory plant in forests. It has been collected from the wild for hundreds of years and widely used as a tonic by those living in areas where it grows. Currently, the wild population is in decline and close to extinction due to over-harvesting.^{70,71}

The Eclectic physicians practiced in America in the latter half of the 19th and first half of the 20th centuries. They used botanical remedies extensively and valued American Ginseng as a tonic to support energy, stamina, and endurance.^{72,73}



American Ginseng Root (Panax quinquefolius)

American Ginseng is highly esteemed for its ability to restore energy reserves and impart energy without being excitatory or heating, as with Red Ginseng. Because of this, American Ginseng is



more highly prized in Asia than is Red Ginseng. It contains ginsenosides in different ratios than those found in Asian Ginsengs. American Ginseng also contains polysaccharides, proteins, and proteoglycans^{.74}

American Ginseng supports energy, stamina, and stability of the nervous system. It is particularly known to support lung health. A polysaccharide-rich extract of American Ginseng was found to support respiratory health and recovery from respiratory infection.⁷⁴ Studies demonstrate a positive influence on the cardiovascular system. Extracts are found to exert both antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity. American Ginseng benefits the immune system and promotes immune cytokine production.⁷⁵⁻⁷⁸

Traditionally, American Ginseng is found helpful for nervous dyspepsia (weak stomach) and for those with mental exhaustion from overwork. It modulates the HPA axis response, increases endurance, and reduces fatigue after exercise.⁷⁴ Extracts of American Ginseng are found to normalize blood sugar and to protect against renal damage in diabetics.^{74,79} Studies find it reduces inflammation in the colon and may exert a beneficial influence on the colon microbiome.⁸⁰

A large amount of research shows multiple neurocognitive benefits for American Ginseng. Extracts are found to be neurotrophic, neuroregenerative, and neuroprotective.^{74,81} It also demonstrates cytoprotective and hepatoprotective capacity.⁷⁴

Rhodiola Root (*Rhodiola rosea*)

Rhodiola, also known as Golden or Arctic root, grows prolifically in the cold, northern part of Russia and Siberia. In Siberian mountain villages, Rhodiola roots were given to couples about to be married as a sign of good health and fertility. Chinese emperors sent expeditions to Siberia to bring back the "golden roots" prized for medicinal use. Active constituents unique to *Rhodiola rosea* that are considered responsible for its adaptogenic qualities are two glycosides, particularly a group called rosavins.⁶ Rhodiola contains flavonoids, volatile essential oils, and



Rhodiola (Rhodiola rosea)

triterpenes. It also contains 17 amino acids along with vitamins, minerals, and trace elements.⁸²⁻⁸⁵

Rhodiola is valued for its ability to enhance mental and physical performance and stamina.⁸⁶ Several human and animal studies found that Rhodiola increases physical work capacity and dramatically shortens recovery time between rounds of high-intensity exercise.^{82,87}

It exerts profound protective effects on the nervous and endocrine systems.^{82;87-89} Rhodiola enhances resistance to stress, helps eliminates fatigue, and improves resistance to stress.^{82;87-89} It harmonizes the neuroendocrine system and improves HPA axis recovery from stress.^{6,82;87-90} Rhodiola demonstrates the ability to reduce stress-induced depression and decrease levels of anxiety.^{82;87-89} It benefits concentration, focus, memory, and learning capacity.^{82;87-89}

Rhodiola exerts antioxidant activity.^{90,91} Rhodiola extract is found to enhance anabolic activity, including protein synthesis, in the muscles. It supports ATP (adenine triphosphate) and glycogen production in both the muscles and liver.⁹² Rhodiola is found to be cardioprotective. It helps normalize the heart rate after intense exercise and some studies indicate it helps normalize conditions of stress and arrhythmia.⁹³⁻⁹⁶



Reishi Mushroom (Ganoderma lucidum)

Reishi is revered as an elixir of longevity and immortality in Chinese medicine where it has been used for over 2,000 years. It is a popular motif in Chinese and Taoist art, often portrayed in the hands of Chinese sages. This woody mushroom is a glossy, deep reddish-brown. The Chinese name is *Ling Zhi*, which is translated as "Plant of Immortality" or "Herb of Spiritual Potency".



Reishi Mushroom (Ganoderma lucidum)

Reishi is known for its powerful nourishing and restorative

ability. Chinese herbalists value it particularly to nourish the deep reserve, or root, energy of the Kidneys. It is traditionally used for conditions of overall weakness (asthenia) to vitalize energy and strengthen overall function. Reishi modulates homeostasis and supports the body's adaptive capacity. It enhances vital energy and restorative sleep. Reishi is known to strengthen cardiac function and enhance memory.⁹⁷

The active constituents of Reishi include polysaccharides, triterpenoids, proteins, lectins, and plant sterols.^{97,98} Reishi is especially rich in the polysaccharides and triterpenes, the latter of which gives Reishi its bitter taste. Reishi contains a number of minerals including a significant amount of germanium, a mineral also present in ginseng, aloe, and garlic. Germanium is found to exert immunopotentiating, antioxidant, antimutagenic, and antitumor activity.⁹⁷

Reishi contains bioactive peptidoglycans known to exert antiviral and immunomodulatory influence.^{97,98} It exerts a wide range of activity including anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects, and is cytoprotective.⁹⁷ Reishi is used in China to treat hyperlipidemia, hepatitis, and conditions related to the heart and lungs.⁹⁹

Reishi is found to be chemoprotective and radioprotective. It helps ameliorate the negative effects of these agents while supporting the normal function and vital energy of the individual.^{99,100} It is used in Chinese hospitals for these reasons.

Reishi exerts potent antitumor influence through its cytoprotective influence and other mechanisms. These include modulation of cell signaling, inhibition of cell growth, and cell migration.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁷

Cordyceps (Cordyceps sinensis)

The renowned sixteenth century herbalist Li Chih Shen praised Cordyceps for its ability to invigorate and tone the entire body.¹⁰⁸ Chinese herbalists revere it as a respiratory tonic that supports healthy lung function and overall vitality and stamina.

Cordyceps is naturally found in the highlands, above 10,000 feet elevation in China, Tibet, and Nepal where it has been highly prized for centuries. It is known in China as "winter worm, summer grass" or the "caterpillar mushroom" because Cordyceps



Cordyceps (Cordyceps sinensis)

is a parasitic fungus that grows on the larvae of caterpillars and other hosts. These provide a growth medium for the mycelia which becomes Cordyceps. The Cordyceps CS-4 strain, which is highly researched, is made from cultured mycelia grown on cultured organic brown rice. This form offers an effective and sustainable alternative that is commonly used today.



Cordyceps first gained international attention when it was discovered that Chinese Olympic athletes included Cordyceps as part of their daily herbal training formula. Studies confirm that Cordyceps increases endurance, vigor, and athletic performance.^{109,110}

Cordyceps is rich in polysaccharides that contribute to its immunomodulatory influence.¹⁰⁸ Recognized for its liver- and kidney-protective qualities, Cordyceps is reported to be especially beneficial for those with chronic kidney disease.¹¹¹⁻¹¹⁴ Cordyceps extract is found to inhibit brain aging and modulate endocrine function.¹⁰⁸ It helps restore sexual function with the ability to replenish sperm and support healthy testosterone levels.^{115,116}

Ashwaganda Root (Withania somnifera)

Ashwaganda has been revered in Ayurvedic medicine as a potent rejuvenative for over 5,000 years. Often called Indian Ginseng, it belongs to an elite class of Ayurvedic restorative herbs, known as Rasayana. The name *Ashwaganda* means *the smell of a horse*, referring to the strong smell of the root. It also refers to the traditional belief that Ashwaganda root confers the vigor, virility, and strength of a stallion.



Ashwaganda Root (Withania somnifera)

Ashwaganda, also called Winter Cherry, is a woody shrub in the

Solanaceae family that grows in diverse areas including Africa, India, and the Mediterranean. Active compounds in Ashwaganda root include alkaloids, steroidal lactones, saponins, and iron.¹¹⁷

Historically used to enhance longevity and protect from disease, this ancient herb possesses significant adaptogenic activity. Ashwaganda is restorative to all systems of the body and supports the adaptive stress response.^{118,119} A recent study of Ashwaganda extract in high concentration found that it increases telomerase activity. Telomerase is a ribonucleo-protein associated with a healthy lifespan.¹²⁰

Ashwaganda supports healthy anabolic activity and nourishes those in a weakened physical or mental condition. Chinese medicine reveres it as a warming tonic used to promote longevity and health. Modern studies find that Ashwaganda helps normalize glucose levels, supports healthy aging, and enhances male sexual function.^{118,119}

Ashwaganda extract can prevent depletion of vitamin C and cortisol in subjects under stress. Its antistress and anabolic activity is considered similar to that of Panax Ginseng.¹²¹ It normalizes biological markers induced by stress including blood sugar, cortisol levels, and adrenal function.¹²¹ Ashwaganda is also found to exert antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity.¹²²

Ashwaganda enhances nervous system restoration and supports healthy brain function.¹²³⁻¹²⁷ One study reports a 80% reduction in cell degeneration in the brain of stressed animals.¹²³ Another discusses the ability of an isolate of Ashwaganda to positively influence regeneration of neurons and synapses in damaged neurons and neural circuits – vital components of the nervous system and brain.^{126,128,129}

Schisandra Berry & Seed (Schisandra chinensis)

The beautiful orange-red Schisandra berry has a long history of medicinal and food use in China,



Japan, Korea, Tibet, and Russia. Throughout time, hunters in the wilds of Siberia used the dried berries chewed or prepared as a tea, to provide energy, stave off exhaustion, and improve night vision during long trips.¹³⁰

Known as the "Five Flavor Fruit", Shisandra berry is considered a valuable tonic to benefits all five energetic/organ systems according to Chinese medical principles, where each flavor relates to a specific organ and functional system. However, they particularly use Schisandra to nourish the Lungs, support Liver function, and to benefit the eyes.⁵⁶

Russian adaptogenic formulations utilize both Schisandra fruit and seed extract. The seeds and berries also contain tannins, triterponoids, lipids (linoleic, linolenic, and oleic fatty



Schisandra Berry (Schisandra chinensis)

acids), organic acids (including malic, citric, and ascorbic), vitamin E, and several minerals. The fruit is especially high in organic acids, pectins, sugars, flavonoids, catchins, anthocyanins, and tannins.^{131,132} Russian research finds the seed extract contains a higher content of lignans known as schisandrins.¹³³⁻¹³⁵

Most Russian research on the adaptogenic qualities of Schisandra were done using the seed extract. The combination of the seed and fruit extract is found to stimulate the CNS without causing overexcitation. Schisandra seed is widely used to treat stress-induced nervous system exhaustion and is found to improve physical and mental capacity, motor coordination, and efficiency.^{133,135,136} Studies show that Schisandra seed extract enhances physical performance and facilitates recovery time.^{135,137} Schisandra is found to improve visual acuity, increase adaptation to darkness, and widen the borders of the visual field.¹³⁸

In multiple studies, Schisandra is found to increase mitochondrial glutathione redox status.¹³⁸ It protects the liver and DNA from damage due to chemicals such as carbon tetrachloride.^{139,140}

Aralia Root (Aralia mandshurica)

Aralia has been utilized in Russian phytotherapy for decades as an adaptogenic tonic to enhance stamina, memory, work capacity, and immune function. Aralia grows in eastern Russia and is in the same botanical family as Panax Ginseng and Eleuthero.

High in triterpenoid saponins and steroidal compounds similar to those found in Panax Ginseng, Aralia also contains tannins, resins, and flavonoids. Aralia is found to increase the antioxidant activity of glutathione sulfur transferase (GST), an important antioxidant.¹⁴¹

Valued as a restorative for appetite and vitality, Aralia facilitates resistance to stress. It enhances immune response and central nervous system function. Aralia stimulates glucocorticoid function of the adrenal glands, supports healthy adrenal response, and helps normalize glucose levels.¹⁴²

Aralia is found beneficial for disorders of the nervous system, particularly depression and mental fatigue.¹⁴³ Aralia is restorative in conditions of hypoxia and is found to improve cognitive ability and long-term memory.¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁵ It enhances physical and mental performance and recovery after prolonged physical and mental activity.¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁵



PART III: Anabolic Botanicals

Historic Context of Anabolic Botanicals

Ben Tabachnik, PhD (1940 – 2008) was a senior scientist for the National Research Institute of Sport in Moscow during the 1970s and 1980s. He specialized in sports physiology for over 30 years and coached the Soviet Olympic sprinting team. In 1990 he immigrated to the United States where he worked as a coach and sports medicine consultant for elite athletes and with several nationally-known sports teams. He was especially interested in herbal alternatives to anabolic steroids and was among the first to introduce the concept of using specific botanicals as natural anabolic agents to improve athletic performance.

When he met professional clinical herbalist Donald Yance in the 1990s, they further developed this concept working together. They realized that the catabolic processes of the prolonged stress response also occur during high-performance athletic training. Together and individually they made numerous contributions to the study, understanding, and clinical use of adaptogenic compounds to enhance health, athletic performance, and to support recovery from chronic and degenerative illness.

The therapeutic use of the more nonspecific, harmonizing, and restorative adaptogenic botanicals is often enhanced through combining them with herbs that work more directly to promote and restore anabolic function. A skillful blending of herbs appropriate for the individual optimizes the healing process and formulations are revised as the person progresses through the restorative process.

Therapeutic Use of Anabolic Botanicals

Promote Anabolic Processes; Restore Metabolic Homeostasis

The anabolic botanicals in this section are not traditionally classified as adaptogens. What they share in common is the ability to restore and support metabolic homeostasis through promoting healthy anabolic processes. As we saw in the metabolic model of stress and recovery, promoting anabolic function is essential to restoration of metabolic homeostasis. The most potent herbs to promote anabolic function include Rhaponticum, Ajuga, Cissus, and Shilajit. The

Anabolic Botanicals:

- enhance metabolic homeostasis
- support normal anabolic function
- stimulate and promote dynamic function

herbs Rhaponticum and Ajuga are especially rich in ecdysterones, which are naturally-occurring anabolic ecdysteroids. Russian researchers such as Ben Tabachnik were particularly excited about these compounds in regards to their ability to promote athletic endurance, stamina, and enhance recovery time from intense training regimens.

Deer Antler Velvet/Pantocrine (Cornu cervi parvam)

In Asia, deer antler is attributed legendary restorative powers. Deer antler velvet is rich in nutrients including collagen, amino acids, essential fatty acids, enzymes, vitamins, minerals, and trace minerals.¹⁴⁶ Deer antler is the only mammalian organ that regenerates itself in an annual rhythm. Each spring, male deer cast off the hard antler from the previous year and the growth of a new antler begins. It starts as a soft, velvet material and regenerates at an amazing pace.

Pantocrine is a humanely-harvested extract of deer antlers. Studies find pantocrine improves athletic



performance of healthy athletes and increases work capacity, strength, and stamina. It helps enhance sexual health and supports healthy heart function.¹⁴⁷

Pantocrine decreases the rate of muscle fatigue, enhances muscular strength, and possesses anticatabolic activity. It also increases red and white blood cell production and accelerates healing and recovery.¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵¹

Pantocrine demonstrates an anabolic/anti-catabolic effect in elderly animals, stimulating lean muscle, bone, cartilage, and nerve growth.¹⁵² As an anabolic agent, Pantocrine promotes protein synthesis by building lean muscle and tissue.^{151,153,154} It is found to enhance both testosterone and IGF-1 (insulin-like growth factor-1), an important growth hormone which is related to human growth hormone. Studies find a correlation between deer velvet and circulating levels of somatomedin C.¹⁵⁵

Rhaponticum Root (Rhaponticum carthamoides)

The root and underground stems of Rhaponticum are valued as powerful medicines in Siberian folk medicine where it has been used for centuries to treat fatigue, anemia, and impotence. Rhaponticum helps prevent the catabolic state seen with chronic stress¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸ and is noted for its ability to support recovery from disease.^{159,160}



Rhaponticum's biological activity is attributed to its high content ^{Rh} of naturally-occurring anabolic ecdysteroids (ES).^{157,159-162}

Rhaponticum contains a large number of ES including ecdysterone and turkesterone.¹⁶³ Turkestone is found to provide the most potent anabolic activity of any known plant-ES.¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶ Because it is such a rich source of ES, Rhaponticum has been researched for over 30 years.

Studies find that Rhaponticum extract (RE) increases protein anabolism to build lean muscle and enhance loss of body fat.^{160,166-168} It is used by athletes to support strength and endurance.¹⁶⁰ RE is noted for its ability to enhance physical and mental work capacity along with physical performance and endurance.^{156,157,60,161,166,168}

Rhaponticum powerfully improves adaptive capacity and normalizes function in many physiological systems. It is found to enhance sleep, appetite, and mood¹⁶⁸, as well as cardiovascular function.^{160,161} RE is found to increase muscle tone, normalize body weight, and improve muscle work capacity even in those with protein synthesis disorders.¹⁶⁹ It is found to increase ATP production in the liver, supporting an increased rate of oxidative phosphorylation.^{167,168,170}

Rhaponticum is high in flavonoids, lignans, tannins, resins, and polysaccharides. These compounds contribute to its powerful immunomodulatory and antioxidant activity.^{159-163;171-175}

Ajuga (Ajuga turkestanica)

This member of the Mint family is found to be especially rich in the biologically active compounds known as ecdysteroids (ES). Ajuga contains a number of ES along with pectins and tannins. Research finds that the ES in Ajuga exert a powerful influence on metabolism, enhance healthy anabolic metabolism, and improve adaptation to stress. Ajuga was used by Russian athletes as an anabolic tonic to enhance their training.



Turkesterone, one of the ES in Ajuga, is said to provide the greatest anabolic activity.¹⁶⁵ ES in Ajuga are found to support healthy body weight and muscle-to-fat ratio, including that of skeletal muscles. Ajuga is found to significantly enhance protein synthesis in muscle cell cytoplasm by increasing protein assembly from amino acids. ES are found to increase protein synthesis by as much as 190%. Ajuga helps stabilize cells during recovery from cortisol damage. It is found to normalize ATP production. Some studies show that Ajuga helps increase total protein and glycogen in muscles.^{176,177}



Ajuga (Ajuga turkestanica)

Shilajit aka Mumie (Asphaltum bitumen)

Ayurvedic medicine values Shilajit as a rejuvenative herb that slows the aging process and prolongs a healthy life. The Sanskrit name Mumie translates as "destroyer of weakness".¹⁷⁸ Shilajit is found in the Himalayas, in other areas of Asia, and in Norway. The word *Shilajit* means "something which has won over rocks". It is gathered in small quantities from steep rock faces at altitudes between 1000 and 5000 meters.^{178,179} This substance has a history of use as a rejuvenative and adaptogenic compound for thousands of years.¹⁸⁰ Shilajit is found to exert significant adaptogenic activity comparable to Panax Ginseng.¹⁸¹

Shilajit exerts pronounced anabolic activity, accelerates protein and mineral metabolism, increases lean muscle mass, and helps build bone density. The Russians have researched Mumie since 1910. Because of their findings, it was used as a restorative and anabolic tonic for elite Russian athletes.¹⁸²

Shilajit is sometimes called mountain rock juice or balsam of rock.¹⁸⁰ It contains about 80% decomposed resin-bearing plants. Humus contains fulvic and humic acids which are high in phenolic compounds. It also contains benzoic acids, flavonoids, sterols, and microelements, along with minerals including calcium, magnesium, and silica.¹⁸³

In traditional Russian and Ayurvedic medicines, Mumie is known as a powerful anabolic that also stimulates bone regeneration. Data suggests that because Mumie is a potent stimulator of osteoblastic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells and an inhibitor of osteoclastogenesis, it may be of clinical benefit in the treatment of osteoporosis in humans.¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁷

Cissus (Cissus quadrangulanis)

Ayurvedic medicine valued Cissus for its ability to support healthy bones, ligaments, and tendons. It contains ketosterones, which are found to enhance healthy anabolic metabolism. Studies find that Cissus acts as an anabolic restorative with androgenic capacity.^{188,189}

This ancient medicinal plant is native to Ceylon, India, and Africa. In Ayurvedic medicine, Cissus is known to speed healing from bone fractures. Modern research attributes this to its action as a glucocorticoid antagonist.¹⁸⁸ Although most of the research on Cissus centers around bone healing, the possibility exists that Cissus may act to improve the healing rate of connective tissue in general, including tendons.¹⁹⁰

Considered to be anti-osteoporitic, Cissus benefits bone remodeling and increases bone tensile strength. Clinical trials find that healing time from fractures increased from 33% to 55% higher than



the control group. It is also found to benefit bones weakened from use of cortisol.^{191,192}

Epimedium Leaf (Epimedium sagittatum)

Epimedium is a powerful herb with an ancient history and is highly researched in modern times. Famously known as "horny goat weed", Epimedium has long been used as an aphrodisiac to enhance both sexual energy and erectile function. The famous Chinese herbal book of remedies, Shennong Ben Cao Jing, written around 1,200 BC, describes the use of Epimedium for impotence. Known as Yin Yang Huo in Chinese medicine, Epimedium is traditionally combined with other herbs to ameliorate its very strong action as Kidney warming tonic.



Epimedium Leaf (Epimedium sagittatum)

Valued to support energy, youthful vigor, and a healthy libido, Epimedium is most often included in longevity tonics such as the famous Two Immortals formula of Chinese medicine.

Epimedium supports androgenic balance.¹⁹³ Clinically, it is found beneficial for impotence, fatigue, low sperm count, low libido, spermatorrhea, and sterility.¹⁹⁴ In several studies, Epimedium extract was found to increase muscle function and integrity and to support health and vigor.¹⁹⁵

Epimedium is especially rich in flavonoids and also contains polysaccharides, natural sterols, and fatty acids. Epimedium flavonoids are found to possess the ability to influence profound regeneration of adrenocortical pathways when there is HPA axis dysfunction. They also assist HPA axis response and hormonal recovery after long-term stress or glucocorticoid exposure.^{196,197}

Epimedium and its flavonoid, icariin, are found to be protective against oxidative stress at the cellular level, supporting healing and repair of aging cells.¹⁹⁸⁻²⁰² Epimedium demonstrates anabolic and bone protective effects. Studies find that Epimedium promotes bone formation and mineral content, and thus contributes to bone density and architecture.^{197,199}

Conclusion

For thousands of years in Chinese and Ayurvedic medicine, a special group of herbs has been used to promote longevity and restore health after illness. This group of herbs is now referred to as adaptogens because of their ability to help the body adapt to the ongoing challenges of life and illness. Adaptogenic botanicals elicit a non-specific (general) response while normalizing and stabilizing function. They work to promote allostasis and can safely be used long-term by most people. Adaptogenic botanicals are traditionally and most appropriately combined in formulations with synergistic and complementary herbs to address the specific needs of the individual.

Botanicals noted for their ability to promote anabolic activity and restore metabolic homeostasis can offer the ideal complementary action when combined with adaptogenic herbs. Skillful blending of these herbs can help enhance recovery from illness, promote healthy aging, and offer physiological support during times of stress and challenge.

For more information, please call 1-888-628-8720 or email info@naturahealthproducts.com.



About the Authors



Donald R. Yance Jr., RH (AHG), CN

Donald R. Yance Jr., RH (AHG), CN, is a practicing Clinical Master Herbalist, Certified Nutritionist and the author of two books including his latest *Adaptogens in Medical Herbalism* (Healing Arts Press, 2013). Providing visionary leadership in the field of natural medicine, Yance has maintained a successful clinical practice for over two decades and trains practitioners worldwide in his therapeutic methodology for patient care. He is the founder and formulator of Natura Health Products, a line of botanical and nutritional formulas, which are based on key principles of Yance's Eclectic Triphasic Medical System.



Suzanne E. Sky, L.Ac., MTOM

Suzanne E. Sky, L.Ac., MTOM has been a Chinese medicine practitioner since 1989 and involved with herbs, nutrition and the healing arts since the mid-70s. She worked with Donald Yance as clinical associate for five years until 2004 and since then often as a writing associate.

With Chinese medicine as her framework, Suzanne integrates herbal, nutritional and lifestyle recommendations along with gentle energy work (Jin Shin Jyutsu) or acupuncture. Blending ancient Chinese wisdom with modern knowledge, her work focuses on supporting and nourishing each person's innate healing and regenerative capacity. Her clinic, Ashland Acupuncture, is located in Ashland, Oregon. She teaches Qi Gong and Chinese medicine classes.



Restorative Herbal Medicine

1. Kumar SA. *Rationality of Rasayana therapy as adaptogenic, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agents*. Int J Res J Pharmacy. 2011. 2(12):259-260.

Historical Perspective

2. Yance DR. *Adaptogens in Medical Herbalism*. Healing Arts Press. 2013.

3. Cooper SJ. From Claude Bernard to Walter Cannon: Emergence of the concept of homeostasis. Appetite. 2008. 51:419-427.

Hans Selye

4. Szabo S, Tache Y, Somogyu A. *The legacy of Hans Selye and the origins of stress research: A retrospective 75 years after his landmark brief 'Letter to the Editor' of Nature*. Stress. 2012 September. 15(5):472-478. doi:10.3109/10253890.2012.710 919

5. Selye H. *Stress and the General Adaptation Syndrome*. British Medical Journal. 1950 June 17. 1383-1392.

6. Kelly GS. *Nutritional and botanical interventions to assist with the adaptation to stress*. Alt Med Rev. 1999. 4(4):249-265.

Allostasis

7. McEwen BS, Wingfield JC. *What's in a name? Integrating homeostasis, allostasis and stress.* Horm Behav. 2010 February. 57(2):105. 16 pages. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.09.011

8. Danese A, McEwen BS. *Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease.* Review. Physiology & Behavior. 2011. doi:10.1016/j. physbeh.2011.08.019

9. Ganzel BL, Morris PA, Wethington E. *Allostasis and the human brain: integrating models of stress from the social and life sciences*. Psychol Rev. 2010 January. 117(1):134-174. doi:10.1037/a0017773.

10. Bland J. Functional somatic syndromes, stress pathologies, and epigenetics. Altern Ther Health Med. 2008. 14(1):14-16.

11. Vaiserman AM. *Epigenetic programming by early-life stress: evidence from human populations*. Review. Developmental Dynamics. 2015. 244:254-265. doi:10.1002/DVDY.24211

12. McEwen BS, Wingfield JC. *The concept of allostasis in biology and bio*medicine. Horm Behav. 2003 Jan. 43(1):2-15.

13. McEwen BS, Gianaros PJ. *Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: Links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease*. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2010. 1186:190-222.doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05331.x

14. Stroeve JHM, van Wietmarschen H, et al. Phenotypic

flexibility as a measure of health: the optimal nutritional stress response test. Genes Nutr. 2015. 10:13. 21 pages.

15. Kremer BHA, van Wietmarschen H, van Ommen B. *Getting a grip on complexity: systems nutrition.* Sight and Life. 2015. 29(1):71-75.

16. van Ommen B, van der Greef J, et al. *Phenotypic flexibility as a key factor in the human nutrition and health relationship.* Genes Nutr. 2014. 4:423. 9 pages.

17. van den Broek TJ, Kremer BHA, et al. *The impact of micronutrient status on health: correlation network analysis to understand the role of micronutrients in metabolic-inflammatory processes regulating homeostasis and phenotypic flexibility.* Genes & Nutrition. 2017. 12:5. 14 pages. doi: 10.1186/s12263-017-0553-7

18. Gonzalez MJ, Miranda-Massari JR, et al. *Nutrigenomics, metabolic correction and disease: the restoration of metabolism as a regenerative medicine perspective.* J Restorative Medicine. 2015 December. 4(1):74-82(9).

19. Smith SM, Vale WW. *The role of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. Basic research.* Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience. 2006. 8(4):383-395.

20. Myers B, McKlveen JM, Herman JP. *Neural regulation of the stress response: the many faces of feedback*. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2012 Feb 1.

Neuroendocrine System: Brain & HPAA

21. McEwen BS. *Allostasis and allostatic load: implications for neuropsychopharmacology*. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2000. 22(2):108-124.

22. Herman JP, Ostrander MM, et al. *Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical axis. Review article.* Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biolocial Psychiatry. 2005. 29:1201-1213.

23. Meaney MJ, Diorio J., *Early environmental regulation of forebrain glucocorticoid receptor gene expression: implications for adrenocortical responses to stress.* Dev Neurosci. 1996. 18(1-2):49-72.

Stress Response Systems

24. Herman JP, Prewitt CM, Cullinan WE. *Neuronal circuit regulation of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical stress axis.* Crit Rev Neurobiol. 1996. 10(3-4):371-394.

25. Arnsten AFT. *Stress signaling pathways that impair prefrontal cortex structure and function. Review.* Nature Reviews Neuroscience. 2009 June. 10:410-422. doi:10.1038/nrn2648



26. McEwen BS, Gianaros PJ. *Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: Links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease*. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2010. 1186:190-222.doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05331.x

27. Herman JP, Figueiredo H, et al. *Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness*. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2003 July. 24(3):151-180.

28. Herman JP, McKlveen JM, et al. *Regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical stress response*. Compr Physiol. 2016 Mar 15. 6(2):603-21. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c.150015

Chronic Stress

29. Ibrahimagic OC, Jakubovic AC, et al. *Psychological stress and changes of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in patients with 'de novo' Parkinson's disease*. Med Arch. 2016 Dec. 70(6):445-448.

30. Stahl SM, Wise DD. *The potential role of a corticotropinreleasing factor receptor-1 antagonist in psychiatric disorders*. CNS Spectr. 2008. 13(6):467-472,476-483

Metabolic Stress Response

31. Schulman RC, Mechanick JI. *Metabolic and Nutrition Support in the Chronic critical illness syndrome*. Respiratory Care. 2012 June. 57(6):958-97. doi: 10.4187/respcare.01620

32. Spiegel D. *Brain, Behavior and Immunity*. Stanford University Medical Center. 2003 Oct 1. Stanford, CA.

33. Yip CE, Stewart SA, et al. *The role of morning basal serum cortisol in assessment of hypothalamic pituitary-adrenal axis.* Clin Invest Med. 2013 Aug 1. 36(4):E216-222.

Complex Adaptive Systems Theory

34. Chan S. *Complex Adaptive Systems*. 2001. ESD.83 Research Seminar in Engineering Systems.

35. Niemeyer K, Bell IR, Koithan M. *Traditional knowledge of Western herbal medicine and complex systems science*. J Herb Med. 2013 September. 3(3):112-119. doi:10.1016/jhermed.2013.03.001.

36. Epstein IR, Showalter K. *Nonlinear chemical dynamics: oscillations, patterns, and chaos.* J Phys Chem. 1996. 100:13132-13147.

37. Kruse K, Julicher F. *Oscillations in cell biology*. Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 20015 17:20-26. doi:10.1016/j. ceb.2004.12.007

Synergistic Herbs

38. Williamson EM. *Synergy and other interactions in phytomedicines*. Phytomedicine. 2001. 8:401-409.

39. Jordan A, Cunningham DG, Marles RJ. Assessment of herbal medicinal products: challenges, and opportunities to



History of Adaptogenic Herb Research

40. *Monograph: Eleutherococcus senticosus*. Altern Med Rev. 2006. 11(2):151-155

41. Davydov M, Krikorian AD. Eleutherococcus senticosus (Rupr. & Maxim.) Maxim. (Araliaceae) as an adaptogen: a closer look. J Ethnopharmacol. 2000. 72:345-393

Adaptogenic Herbs

Eleuthero

42. Todorov I. *Mechanism of Antistress and Anabolic Action of Eleutherococcus*. In: *Bioactive Compounds: biotransformation and biological action*. 1993. Nova Science Publishing. New York. p2-77.

43. Blokhin BN. *The Influence of Eleutherococcus Root and Leaf Extract on Human Work Capacity under Static and Dynamic Workloads.* ed. *Eleutherococcus and Other Adaptogens from Far East Plants.* 1996. Siberian Department of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR. Vladivostok.

44. Todorov IN, Zaikov GE, Degterev IA. *Bioactive Compounds: Biotransformation and Biological Action*. 1993. Nova Science Publishers Inc. Commack.

45. Kupin VJ. *Eleutherococcus and other Biological Active Modifiers in Oncology*. 1984. Moscow. Medexport.

46. Wagner H, Norr H, Winterhoff H. *Plant adaptogens*. Phytomedicine 1994:163-176.

47. Asano K, Takakhasi T, et al. *The Influence of Eleutherococcus on Muscle Work Capacity in Humans.* eds. New Data on Eleutherococcus. 1986. 2nd International Symposium on Eleutherococcus. Moscow.

48. Asano K, Takahashi T, et al. *Effect of Eleutherococcus senticosus extract on human working capacity*. Planta Medica: 3(1986): 175-177.

49. Kelly GS. *Sports Nutrition: A review of selected nutritional supplements for endurance athletes.* Altern Med Rev. 1997. 2(4): 282-295.

50. Hikino H, Takahashi M, Otake K, Konno C. *Isolation and hypoglycemic activity of Eleutherans A, B, C, D, E, F and G: glycans of Eleutherococcus senticosus roots.* J Natural Products. 1986. 49(2):293-297.

51. Wagner H, et al. *Die DC und HPLC – analyze der Eleutherococcus*. Planta Medica.1982. (44):193-199.

52. Farnsworth N, Walter D, Sterkoff L. *Use of Eleutherococcus in the USA: problems, prospects and literature update. New data on Eleutherococcus.* Proceedings of the II International Symposium on Eleutherococcus. 1986. Vladivostok, Moscow. p47-52.



53. Brekhman II. *Eleutherococcus: 20 Years of research and clinical application*. Hamburg 1980. 1st International Symposium on Eleutherococcus.

54. Provalova NV, Skurikhin EG, et al. *Mechanisms underling the effects of adaptogens on erythropoiesis during paradoxical sleep deprivation*. Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine. 2002. 133(5): 428-432.

55. Kalashnikov BN. Effect of Eleutheroccus on the disease incidence among miners in the Artic. In: Novosibirsk A, ed. Abstracts of the Reports Made at the 2nd All-Union Conference on Adaptation of Man to Different Geographical, Climatic and Industrial Conditions. 1977. USSR Academy of Medical Sciences.

Panax Ginseng: Red, White

56. Chen JK, Chen TT. Chinese Medical Herbology and Pharmacology. Art of Medicine Press. 2004.

57. Weider, B. *Selected herbals and human exercise performance*. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000 Aug. 72(2 Suppl):624S-36S (ISSN: 0002-9165). Weider Nutritional International. Salt Lake City, UT.

58. Forgo I, Kirchdorfer AM. *The Effects of Different Ginsenoside Concentrations on Physical Work Capacity*. Notabene Medici 1982. 12(9):727.

59. Jung HL, Kwak HE, et al. *Effects of Panax ginseng* supplementation on muscle damage and inflammation after uphill treadmill running in humans. Am J Chin Med. 2011. 39(3):441-450.

60. Lee HM, Lee OH, Kim KJ, Lee BY. *Ginsenoside Rg1 Promotes Glucose Uptake Through Activated AMPK Pathway in Insulin-resistant Muscle Cells.* Phytother Res. 2011 Dec 15. doi: 10.1002/ptr.3686.

61. Reay JL, Kennedy DO, Scholey AB. *Effects of Panax ginseng, consumed with and without glucose, on blood glucose levels and cognitive performance during sustained 'mentally demanding' tasks.* J Psychopharmacol. 2006 Nov. 20(6):771-781. Epub 2006 Jan 9.

62. Wagner H, Bladt S. *Plant drug analysis: a thin layer chromatography atlas.* 1996. 2nd ed. Spinger-Verlag, Berlin. p307.

63. Chang HM, But PP. *Pharmacology and applications of Chinese materia medica, Vol. 1.* 1986. World Scientific, Singapore. p17-31.

64. Kee CH. *The Pharmacology of Chinese Herbs*. Second Ed. 1999. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. p19-44.

65. Zhu J, Mu X, et al. *Ginsenoside Rg1 Prevents Cognitive Impairment and Hippocampus Senescence in a Rat Model of DGalactose-Induced Aging*. 2014. PLoS ONE 9(6): e101291. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101291

66. Dharmananda, S. PhD. The Nature of Ginseng: From

Traditional Use to Modern Research. This article first appeared in Herbalgram 54: The Journal of the American Botanical Council. Web Posting Date: Sept 2002. Institute for Traditional Medicine. Portland, Oregon. http://www. itmonline.org/arts/ginsengnature.htm

67. Shen LH, Zhang JT. *Ginsenoside Rg1 promotes proliferation of hippocampal progenitor cells*. Neurological Research 2004. 26(4):422-428.

68. Wu SF, Sui DY, et al. *Antimyocardial ischemic effects of Panax quinquefolium 20 s-protopanaxdiol saponins(PQDS) and its mechanism*. Chinese Pharmaceutical Journal 2002. 37(2): 100-103.

69. Mills S, Bone K. *Principles & Practice of Phytotherapy*. Churchill Livingston. Part Three: Ginseng.

American Ginseng

70. Punja ZK. American Ginseng: Research developments, opportunities, and challenges. J Ginseng Res. 2011. 35(3):368-374.

71. Anderson RC, Anderson MR, Houseman G. <u>Wild</u> <u>American Ginseng</u>. Native Plants Journal. 2002 Fall. 3(2): 93-105.

72. Cook, W. *The Physiomedical Dispensatory*. Physio-Medical Institute. 1869. p399

73. Felter HW, Lloyd JU. *King's American Dispensatory* 1898. Eighteenth Edition. Third Revision. In Two Volumes.

74. Upton R, ed. American Herbal Pharmacopeia and Therapeutic Compendium: American Ginseng Root (Panax quinquefolius L.) Standards of Analysis, Quality Control, and Therapeutics. 2012. American Herbal Pharmacopoeia. www. herbal-ahp.org

75. Assinewe VA, Amason JT, et al. *Extractable polysaccharides* of Panax quinquefolius L. (North American ginseng) root stimulate TNFalpha production by alveolar macrophages. Phytomedicine. 2002. 9(5):398-404.

76. Fu Y, Ji LL. *Chronic ginseng consumption attenuates ageassociated oxidative stress in rats.* J Nutrition. 2003. 133(11) 3603-3609.

77. Wang M, Guilbert LJ, et al. *Immuno-modulating activity of CVT-E002, a proprietary extract from North American ginseng (Panax quinquefolium).* J Pharmacy and Pharmacology 2001. 53(11):1515-1523.

78. Wang M, Guilbert LJ, et al. A proprietary extract from North American ginseng (Panax quinquefolium) enhances IL-2 and IFN-gamma productions in murine spleen cells induced by Con-A. Internat J Immunopharmacolog. 2004. 4(2) 311-315.

79. Kim HY, Kang KS, et al. *Protective effect of heat-processed American ginseng against diabetic renal damage in rats.* J Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2007. 55(21) 8491-8497.



80. Dougherty et al. American ginseng suppresses Western dietpromoted tumorigenesis in model of inflammation-associated colon cancer: role of EGFR. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2011.11:111 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6882/11/111

81. Scholey A, Ossukhova A, et al. *Effects of American ginseng* (*Panax quinquefolius*) on neurocognitive function: an acute, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. Psychopharmacology. 2010. 212:345-356.

Rhodiola

82. Brown RP, Gerbarg PL, Ramazanov Z. *Rhodiola rosea. A phytomedical overview.* Journal of the American Botanical Council. 2002. 56:40-52.

83. Rohloff J. *Volatiles from rhizomes of Rhodiola rosea L.*. Phytochemistry. 2002. 59(6) 655-661.

84. Ganzera M, Yayla Y, Khan IA. *Analysis of the marker* compounds of Rhodiola rosea L. (golden root) by reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography. Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 2001. 49(4):465-467.

85. Yin G, Guo J, et al. *The nutritional value and longevity effects of Rhodiola on animals.* Acta Nutr Sin. 1992. 14(1): 98-102.

86. Fintelmann V, Gruenwald J. *Efficacy and tolerability of a Rhodiola rosea extract in adults with physical and cognitive deficiencies*. Advances in Therapy. 2007. 24(4):929-939.

87. Saratikov AS, Krasnov EA, eds. *Rhodiola rosea is a valuable medicinal plant*. Tomsk Medical Institute. 1987. p69-90.

88. Darbinyan V, Kteyan A, et al. *Rhodiola rosea in* stress induced fatigue – a double blind cross-over study of a standardized extract SHR-5 with a repeated low-dose regimen on the mental performance of healthy physicians during night duty. Phytomedicine 2000. 7(5):365-371.

89. Brichenko VS, Kupriyanova IE, Skorokhova TF. The use of herbal adaptogens with tricyclic antidepressants in patients with psychogenic depression. In: Saratikov AS, ed. Modern problems of pharmacology and search for new medicines. Tomsk State University Press. 1986. p58-60.

90. Ip SP, Che CT, Leung PS. Association of free radicals and the tissue renin-angiotensin system: prospective effects of Rhodiola, a genus of Chinese herb, on hypoxia-induced pancreatic injury. JOP. 2001 Jan. 2(1):16-25. ISSN:1590-8577.

91. Zhang Z, Liu J, et al. *The effect of Rhodiola capsules* on oxygen consumption of myocardium and coronary artery blood flow in dogs. Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi. 1998 Feb. 23(2):104-6. ISSN:1001-5302.

92. Novikov MG, Adamchuk VD. *Experience in the organization of medical-preventive work at an industrial enterprise*. Sovetskoe zdravookhranenie / Ministerstvo zdravookhraneniia SSSR 1960. 19(3) 35-41.

93. Maslova LV, Kondrat'ev BI, et al. *The cardioprotective and antiadrenergic activity of an extract of Rhodiola rosea in stress*. 1994. 57(6):61-63.

94. Maimeskulova LA, Maslov LN. *Anti-arrhythmic effect of phytoadaptogens*. Eksperimental'naia i klinicheskaia farmakologiia. 2000. 63(4):29-31.

95. Maslov LN, Lishmanov I, et al. *Mechanism of the anti-arrhythmic effect of Rhodiola rosea extract*. Biulleten' eksperimental'noi biologii i meditsiny. 1998. 125(4):424-426.

96. Maslov LN, Lishmanov I. *Cardioprotective and antiarrhythmic properties of Rhodiolae roseae*. Eksperimental'naia i klinicheskaia farmakologiia. 2007. 70(5):59-67.

Reishi

97. Benzie IFF, Wachtel-Galor S, eds. Chapter 9: *Ganoderma lucidum (Lingzhi or Reishi) A Medicinal Mushroom*. Herbal Medicine: Biomolecular and Clinical Aspects. 2nd edition. 2011. CRC Press. Boca Raton, FL.

98. Luo J, Lin ZB. *A new triterpene from the fruiting bodies of Ganoderma lucidum*, Yao Xue Xue Bao. 2001 Aug. 36(8):595-598.

99. Jianzhe Y, Xiaolan M, et al. *Icons of Medicinal fungi from China*. 1987. Science Press. Beijing.

100. Zhou J, Liu G. *Recent Advances in Chinese Medicine*. 1991. Science Press. Beijing. p26-260.

101. 99. Suarez-Arroyo IJ, Rosario-Accevedo R, et al. *Anti-tumor effects of Ganoderma lucidum (reishi) in inflammatory breast caner in in vivo and in vitro models.* PLoS One. 2013. 8(2):e57431.

102. Driscoll M, Hansen R, et al. *Therapeutic potential of various beta-glucan sources in conjunction with anti-tumor monoclonal antibody in cancer therapy*. Cancer Biology and Therapy. 2009. 8(3):218-225.

103. Wu CT, Lin TY, et al. *Ling Zhi-8 mediates p53-dependent growth arrest of lung cancer cells proliferation via the ribosomal protein S7-MDM2-p53 pathway.* Carconogenesis. 2011. 32(12):1890-1896.

104. Chen NH, Zhong JJ. *P53 is important for the antiinvasion of ganoderic acid T in human carcinoma cells.* Phytomediicne. 2011. 18(8-9):719-725.

105. Jang K, Han M, et al. *Induction of apoptosis by ethanol extracts of Ganoderma lucidum in human gastric carcinoma cells.* J Acupuncture and Meridian Studies. 2010. 3(1):24-31.

106. Yuen JW, Gohel MD, Au DW. *Telomerase-associaited apoptotic events by mushroom Ganoderma lucidum on premalignant human urothelial cells*. Nutrition and Cancer. 2008. 60(1):109-119.

107. Zhao S, Ye, G, et al. *Ganoderma lucidum exerts anti-tumor* effects on ovarian cancer cells and enhances their sensitivity to



cisplatin. Int J Oncology. 2011. 38(5):1319-1327.

Cordyceps

108. Zhu JS, Halpern GM, Jones K. *The scientific rediscovery* of an ancient Chinese herbal medicine: Cordyceps sinensis: part I. J Altern Complement Med. 1998 Fall. 4(3):289-303. ISSN: 1075-5535.

109. Koh JH, Kim KM, et al. *Antifatigue and Antistress Effect of the Hot-Water Fraction from Mycelia of Cordyceps sinensis.* Biol Pharm Bull. 2003 May. 26(5):691-694.

110. Dai G, Bao T, et al. *CordyMax Cs-4 improves steady-state bioenergy status in mouse liver*. J Altern Complement Med. 2001 Jun. 7(3):231-240.

111. Zhang HW, Lin ZX, Tung YS, et al. *Cordyceps sinensis (a traditional Chinese medicine) for treating chronic kidney disease*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Dec 18. 12:CD008353. p36, 37.

112. Shen LM, Chen YP. *Treatment of 18 cases of chronic nephritis mainly with cultivated cordyceps*. Liaoning J Trad Chin Med. 1985. 9:32-33.

113. Chen YP, Liu WZ, et al. *Clinical effects of natural cordyceps and cultured mycelia of Cordyceps sinensis in kidney failure*. Chin Trad Herbal Drugs. 198.: 17:256-258.

114. Kuo YC, Chen CF, et al. Inhibition of activated human mesangial cell proliferation by the natural product of Cordyceps sinensis (H1-A): an implication for treatment of IgA mesangial nephropathy. J Lab Clin Med. 1999 Jan. 133(1):55-63.

115. Yamaguchi Y, Kagota S, Nakamura K. *Antioxidant activity of the extracts from fruiting bodies of cultured Cordyceps sinensis.* Phytother Res. 2000 Dec.14(8):647-649.

116. Huang BM, Hsu CC, Tsai SJ. *Effects of Cordyceps sinensis* on testosterone production in normal mouse Leydig cells. Life Sci. 2001 Oct 19. 69(22):2593-2602.

Ashwaganda

117. Atal CK, Gupta OP, et al. *Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry of Withania Somnifera*. Central Council for Research in Indian Medicine and Homeopathy. 1975. New Delhi.

118. Bhattacharya SK, Muruganandam AV. *Adaptogenic activity of Withania somnifera: an experimental study using a rat model of chronic stress.* Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2003 Jun. 75(3):547-555.

119. Mishra LC, Singh BB, Dagenais S. *Scientific basis for the therapeutic use of Withania somnifera (Ashwagandha): a review.* Altern Med Rev. 2000 Aug. 5(4):334-346.

120. Raguraman V, Subramaniam JR. *Withania somnifera root extract enhances telomerase activity in the human HeLa cell line*. Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology. 2016. 7:199-204. doi.org/10.4236/abb.2016.74018 121. Grandhi A, Mujumdar AM, Patwardlhan B. *A comparative pharmacological investigation of Ashwagandha and Ginseng*. J Ethnopharmacol 1994. 44:131-135.

122. Singh D, Aggarwal A, et al. *Withania somnifera inhibits NF-kappaB and AP-1 transcription factors in human peripheral blood and synovial fluid mononuclear cells.* Phytother Res. 2007 Jun 11.

123. Jain S, Shukla SD, Sharma K, et al. *Neuroprotective effects of Withania somnifera Dunn. in hippocampal sub-regions of female albino rat.* Phytother Res. 2001. 15(6):544-548.

124. Bhattacharya SK, et al. *Anti-Stress activity of Sitoindosides VII and VIII, New Acylsteryglucosides from Withania somnifera.* Phytotherapy Research 1987:1(1):32-37.

125. Archana R, Namasivayam A. Antistressor effect of Withania somnifera. J Ethnopharmacol. 1999 Jan. 64(1):91-93.

126. Jayaprakasam B, Padmanabhan K, Nair MG. Withanamides in Withania somnifera fruit protect PC-12 cells from beta-amyloid responsible for Alzheimer's disease. Phytother Res. 2009 Dec 2.

127. Bhattacharya SK, Bhattacharya A, et al. *Anxiolyticantidepressant activity of Withania somnifera glycowithanolides: an experimental study.* Phytomedicine. Dec 2000. 7(6):463-469.

128. Kuboyama T, Tohda C, Komatsu K. *Neuritic regeneration and synaptic reconstruction induced by withanolide A*. Br J Pharmacol. 2005 Feb 14.

129. Tohda C, Kuboyama T, et al. *Indian medicinal plants as antiradicals and DNA cleavage protectors*. Phytomedicine. 2001 Mar. 8(2):125-132.

Schisandra Berry

130. Pasossian A, Wikman G. *Pharmacology of Schisandra chinensis Bail: an overview of Russian research and uses in medicine*. J Ethnopharmocolgy. 2008. 118(2):183-212.

131. Bartlova M, Opletal L, et al. *Liquid chromatographic analysis of super-critical carbon dioxide extracts of Shizandra chinensis.* J Chromatography. 2002. 770(1-2):283-289.

132. Kvasnickova L, Glatz Z, et al. *Application of capillary electrochromogatagraphy using macroporous polyacrylamide columns for the analysis of lignans from seeds of Shisandra chinensis.* J Chromatography. 2001. 916(1-2):265-271.

133. Lupandidn AV, Lapaev II. *Schizandra*. 1981. Khabarovsk Publisher. Moscow. USSR. p125

134. Samilova RD. *Pharmacology of Adaptogens*. Pharmaceutical Journal. Kiev. 1976. (6):11-20.

135. Weiner M. Schizandra. In: Herbs that heal: Prescription for Herbal Healing. 1996. p292-293.

136. Lebedev AA. Appraisal of the stimulative action of



Schizandra Chinensis. Materials for the study of the stimulative and tonic actions of Ginseng and Schizandra Chinensis. 1955. Moscow. Academy of Science of USSR. p182-185.

137. Ahumada F, et al. *Studies on the effect of Schizandra Chinensis extract on horses submitted to Exercise and Maximum Effort*. Phytotheraphy. 1989. 3(5):175-179.

138. Sinovich VA, Akhmerova, ZB. *The influence of Schizandra on normal and pathological visual functions- Materials for study of Ginseng and Schizandra*. Issue 3. Leningrad. 1958. 177-180.

139. Chiu PY, Mak DH, et al. In vivo antioxidant action of a lignan-enriched extract of Schisandra fruit and an anthraquinone-containing extract of Polygonum root in comparison with schisandrin B and emodin. Planta Med. 2002 Nov. 68(11):951-956.

140. Ip SP, Yiu HY, Ko KM. *Differential effect of schisandrin B and dimethyl diphenyl bicarboxylate (DDB) on hepatic mitochondrial glutathione redox status in carbon tetrachloride intoxicated mice*. Mol Cell Biochem. 2000 Feb. 205(1-2):111-114.

Aralia

141. Chung CK, Jung ME. Ethanol fraction of Aralia elata Seemann enhances antioxidant activity and lowers serum lipids in rats when administered with benzo(alpha)pyrene. Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 200.: 26(10):1502-1504.

142. Sololov S, Monogarov, et al. *The influence of the saponins of the Aralia mandchurica on the processes of recovery on athletes after intensive physical work loads.* In: Biologically Active Substances of Flora and Fauna of the Far East and Pacific Ocean. 1971. Alma-Ata State Medical Institute. Vladivostok. p113-114.

143. Kazakevich V, ed. *The Influence of Aralia Mandchurica Tincture on the Central Nervous System*. Medicinal Remedies of the Far East. Vladivostok. Far East Scientific Center of the Academy of Science of the USSR. 1972. p186.

144. Zhuravlev Y, Kolyada A. *Araliaceae: Ginseng and others*. Vladivostok. 1996. p274.

145. Sedykh T, Mesherskaya K, et al, eds. *The Influence of Aralia mandchurica tincture, Aminalon or their combination on memorization of tests.* New medicinal preparation from plant of Siberia and the Far East. 1986. p132.

Anabolic Herbs

Pantocrine

146. Academy of Sciences of the USSR Far East Branch. *The Soviet Far East: The USSR's Medicinal Treasury.* 1990. Address of the Presidium: 50 Leninskaya, Vladivostok 690600, USSR.

147. Duarte A. Velvet Deer Antler: The Ultimate Anti-Aging Supplement. Grass Valley, CA. Nutri Tapes and Publications, Inc. 2000.

148. Pavlenko, SM. *Pantocrin: A Publication of Articles on Studies of Curative Properties of Pantocrin.* 1988. Moscow, USSR: V/O Medexport.

149. Bensky D, Gamble A, trans. *Chinese Herbal Medicine Materia Medica*. 1993. Eastland Press.

150. Dobriyakov U. Antistress action of the remedy from Antlers. In Adaptation and Adaptogens. 1977. Vladivostok. p132-134.

151. *Pantokrin, Pharmacological Article*. 1995. Ministry of Healthcare of Russia. Moscow. Official Document.

152. Wang B. Advances in the research of chemistry, pharmacology and clinical application of pilose antler. Proceedings of the '96 International Symposium on Deer Science and Deer Products. 1996. Changchun, China. 14-32.

153. Wang BX, Zhao XH, et al. *Stimulating effect of deer antler extract on protein synthesis in senescence-accelerated mice in vivo*. Chemistry and Pharmacology Bulletin. 1988. 36(7):2593-2598.

154. Ryashchenko, ed. Russian book on Pantocrine, translation arranged by R. Archer. *Properties of New Zealand deer velvet*. 1983.

155. Suttie JM, Gluckman PD, et al. *Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) antler-stimulating hormone?* Endocrinology. 1985. 116(2):846-848.

Rhaponticum

156. Gorovits MB, Zatsny IL, et al. *Ecdysones in the world of plants*. Plant's Resources 1974. 10(2): 261-274.

157. Gorovits MB. *Research of plant steroids and synthesis of physiological active substances from it*. Abstract of Dissertation. 1977. Doctor's of Science degree in pharmacology.

158. Baltaev U, Abubakirov NK. *Phytoecdysteroids. Rhaponticum carthamoides.* Chemistry of Natural Compounds. 1987. 5:681-684.

159. Saratikov AS. *On the simulative action of Siberian Leuzea carthamoides*. New Medicinal Plants of Siberia, Their Medicinal Preparations and Use. 1949. 3:167-190.

160. Kokoskaa L, Janovskab D. *Chemistry and pharmacology of Rhaponticum carthamoides: A review*. Phytochemistry. May 2009. 70(7):842-855.

161. Yakunina GD, Krasnov EA. Leuzea carthamoides – as a prospective resource of new remedies. Herbal remedies in traditional and folk medicine. Ulan Ude. 1987. 155-156.

162. Krasnov EA, Saratikov AS, et al. *Incosterone and Ecdisterone from Rhaponticum Carthamoides*. Chemistry of Natural Compounds. 1976. (4):550.

163. Krasnov EA, Saratikov AS, Yakunina GD. *Active substances of Leuzea carthamoides*. Isv SO AS USSR Ser Biol. 1977. 5(1):93-95.



164. Kurmukov AG, Ernishuna OA. The Influence of Ecdisterone on Experimental Arrhythmias, Changes in Hemodynamics and Cintractility of the Mycardium, Caused by Coronary Artery Occlusion. Farmakologia Toksikologia. 1992. 54(1).

165. Syrov VN, Khushbaktova ZA. Experimental study of pharmacotherapeutic effects of phytoecdysteroids and nerobol in toxic renal damage. Eksp Klin Farmakol. 2001. July-Aug. 64(4):56-58.

166. Lupandin, AV. Adaptation and Rehabilitation in Sports. Khabarovsk: Institute of Physical Culture. 1991.

167. Syrov VA, Kurmukov AG. On the Anabolic Activity of Phytoecdysone-Ecdysterone Extracted from Rhaponticum Carthamoides. Journal Farmakologiya and Toksikologiya (Moscow). 1976. Pharmacology and Toxicology. 39(6):690-669.

168. Gerasyuta, MA, Koval TN. The Experience of Prolonged Use of Leuzea Carhamoides Extract for the Purposes of Preservation and Increase of Mental And Physical Work Capacity. In: Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Eleuthercoccus (Hamburg, 1980) Vladivostok: Far East Scientific Center of the Academy of Science of the Suur. 1981. 135.

169. Petkov V, Roussinov K, et al. Pharmacological Investigations on Rhaponticum Carthamoides. Planta Medica. Bulgaria. 1984. 50(3):205-209.

170. Syrov VN, Khushbaktova ZA, et al. An experimental study of the hepato-protective properties of phytoecdysteroids and nerobol in carbon tetrachloride induced liver lesion. Eksp Klin Farmakol. 1992 May-June. 55(3):61-65.

171. Koleckar V, Brojerova E, Rehakova Z, et al. In vitro antiplatelet activity of flavonoids from Leuzea carthamoides. Drug and Chemical Toxicology. 2008. 31(1):27-35.

172. Lamer-Zarawska E, Serafinowicz Gasiorowwski K, Brocos B. Immunomodulatory activity of polysaccharide-rich fraction from Rhaponicum carthamoides leaves. Fitoterapia. 1996. 4:371-372.

173. Szendrei K, Varga E. Thiophene acetylenes from Leuzea Roots. Phytochemistry. 1984: 23(4):901-902.

174. Miliauskas G, van Beek TA, et al. Identification of radical scavenging compounds in Rhaponticum carthamoides by means of LC-DAD-SPE-NMR. Journal of Natural Products. 2005. 68(2):168-172.

175. Stodulka P, Koleckar V, et al. High-performance Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Four Leuzea carthamoides Flavonoids. Journal of Chromatographic Science. 2008. 46(2): 162-164.

Ajuga

176. Syrov VN, Chermynkh NS, et al. The action of

methanodrostenolone and ecdysterone on the physical endurance of animals and on protein metabolism in the skeletal muscles. Farmakol Tosiko. 1988. Nov-Dec. 51(6):57-60.

177. Syrov VN, Tashmukhamedova MA, et al. Effect of phytoecdysteroids and nerobol on parameters of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and phospholipid spectrum of liver mitochondrial membrane in experimental diabetes mellitus of rats. Ukr Biokhim Zh. 1992. Jul-Aug. 64(4):61-67.

Shilijat

178. Ghosal S, Lal J, et al. Mast cell protecting effects of shilajit and its constituents. Phytotherapy Res. 1991. 5:211. doi: 10.1002/ptr.2650030606

179. Bhaumik, S, Chattopadhyay S, Ghosal S. Effect of Shilajit on mouse peritoneal macrophages. Phytotherapy Res. 1993. 7:425.

180. Agarwal SP, Khanna R, et al. Shilajit: a review. Phytother Res. 2007. May. 21(5):401-405.

181. Acharya SB, Frotan MH, et al. Pharmacological actions of Shilajit. Indian J Exp Biol. 1988. Oct. 26(10):775-777.

182. Altamyshev AA, Kortshubekow BK. What we know about Mumie. Moscow. 1989.

183. Ghosal S, Reddy JP, Lal VK. Shilajit I: chemical constituents. J Pharm Sci. 1976. May. 65(5):772-773

184. Jung C, Schepetkin IA, et al. Osteoblastic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by mumie extract. Drug Development Research. 2002. November. 57(3):122-133.

185. Kel'ginbaev NS, Sorokina VA, et al. Treatment of long tubular bone fractures with Mumie Assil preparations in experiments and clinical conditions. Eksp Khir Anesteziol. 1973 Jul-Aug. 18(4):31-35.

186. Tkachenko SS, Rutskii VV, Grachev IR. Reparative regeneration of the bone tissue under the effect of mumie-asyl. Ortop Travmatol Protez. 1979 Nov. (11):49-52.

187. Shakurov ASH. Effect of "mumie" on bone regeneration and blood alkaline phosphatase in experimental fractures of the tubular bones. Ortop Travmatol Protez. 1965 May. 26:24-27.

Cissus

188. Chopra SS, Patel MR, et al. Studies of Cissus quadrangularis in experimental fracture repair: a histopathological study. Indian J Med Res. 1976. Sep. 64(9):1365-1368.

189. Prasad GC, Udupa KN. Effect of Cissus quadrangularis on the healing of cortisone-treated fractures. Indian J Med Res. 1963 July. 51:667-676.

190. Chopra SS, Patel MR, et al. Studies on Cissus quadrangularis in experimental fracture repair: effect on chemical parameters in blood. Indian J Med Res. 1975. Jun. 63(6):824-8.

191. Shirwaikar A, Khan S, Malini S. Antiosteoporotic effect of



ethanol extract of Cissus quadrangularis Linn. on ovariectomized rat. J Ethnopharmacol. 2003 Dec. 89(2-3):245-50.

192. <u>Potu BK</u>, <u>Nampurath GK</u>, et al. *Effect of Cissus quadrangularis Linn on the development of osteopenia induced by ovariectomy in rats*. <u>Clin Ter.</u> 2011. Jul-Aug 162(4):307-12.

Epimedium

193. Wang, YS. *Pharmacology and applications of Chinese Materia Medica*. p1102-81983

194. Leung AY, Foster S. *Encyclopedia of Common Natural Ingredients Used in Food, Drugs and Cosmetics.* 2nd ed. 1996. New York, NY. John Wiley & Sons.

195. Cai, WJ, Huang, JH, Zhang, SQ, et al. *Icariin and its derivative icariside II extend healthspan via insulin/IGF-1 pathway in C. elegans.* PLoS One. 2011. 6(12):e28835.

196. Huang JH, Shen ZY, Chen WH. Exploration on molecular mechanism of epimediun flavonoids in regulating adrenocortical regeneration in rats with inhibited hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis using oligonucleotide microarrays. Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi. 2006 May. 26(5):423-426. Chinese.

197. Wu, T, Cui, L. Zhang, Z, et al. Experimental study on

antagonizing action of herba Epimedii on side effects induced by glucocorticoids. Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi. 1996. 21(12):748-751, 763.

198. Yu, S, Chen, K and Li, S. *In vitro and in vivo studies of the effect of a Chinese herb medicine on osteoclastic bone resorption*. Chinese Journal of Dental Research. 1999. 2(1):7-11.

199. Xue, L, Want, Y, Jiang, Y, et al. *Comparative effects of erxian decoction, Epimedium herbs, and icariin with estrogen on bone and reproductive tissue in ovariectomized rats.* Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. Nov. 7, 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/241416.

200. Wu, BY, Zou, JH and Meng, SC. *Effect of wolfberry fruit and Epimedium on DNA synthesis of the aging-youth 2BS fusion cells.* Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi. 2003. 23(12).

201. Chen, Kuang and Chen, *Effect of monoamine neurotransmitters in the hypothalamus.* Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi. 2003. 23(12).

202. Wang, YK and Huang, ZQ. Protective effects of icariin on human umbilical vein endothelial cell injury induced by H(2) O(2) in vitro. Pharmacological Research. 2005. 52(2): 174-82.

